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  JFK RESEARCHER MARK KEMBLE BECOMES TANGLED IN A VIOLENT SERIES OF EVENTS THAT EVENTUALLY LEAD HIM TO DALLAS AND A CONFRONTATION WITH THE ASSASSIN OF THE PRESIDENT.




  



  Poll results from the past two decades demonstrate that nearly two-thirds of Americans, Canadians, and Europeans believe that John Kennedy was murdered as a result of a conspiracy in November of 1963. If true, could one of the assassins still be alive, perhaps living in the United States? Set in Washington D.C. in November of 2004, Echoes of November brings this assassin to life. Kennedy Assassination expert Mark Kemble finds himself caught up in a series of violent events that eventually lead him to Dallas and a confrontation with the assassin.




  Among the novel’s other characters are a former member of the Warren Commission who in the years since has become one of Washington's power brokers; a medical technician who assisted at Kennedy's autopsy; and three significant women characters—one being a United States Senator and daughter of a powerful Congressman during Kennedy's administration.




  In Echoes of November the details about Kennedy's assassination are blended into a mystery/thriller with a historical component as exciting as the story itself.




  “Mixing historical fact and fiction, John Vance has once again created a first-rate Beltway thriller. Here, the assassination of President John F. Kennedy and its continuing investigation by a dogged journalist some forty years after that murderous event, prove that old secrets are never dead, buried, forgotten, or forgiven....Vance skillfully weaves vivid character portrayals with details of the Kennedy assassination and autopsy that have always troubled experts... A compellingly chilling read.”—Robert Cooperman, author of Just Drive (Brick Road Poetry Press) and In the Colorado Gold Fever Mountains (winner of the Colorado Book Award).




  “Echoes of November is finely crafted suspense that will make you rethink preconceived notions we all have about a day etched in our collective consciousness."—John Hazen, Author of Fava and Journey of an American Son.
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  “All great truths begin as blasphemies.”—George Bernard Shaw.




   




  “Let us sit upon the ground / And tell sad stories of the death of kings.” —William Shakespeare.




   




  “One owes respect to the Living. To the Dead, one owes only Truth.” —Voltaire.




  



  ECHOES OF NOVEMBER




  Prologue




  It was the first time he had returned to Dealey Plaza in over ten years. When he was here last, he wondered if he could ever return. Would the memory be too painful—too palpable? But he knew that if he did he would have to come alone as he had this autumn.




  Mark Kemble had never wavered from his decision to keep unpublished what he had learned and experienced in the fall of 2004. First, who would believe him? Those few he had told insisted that his reputation as one of the leading Kennedy assassination researchers would suffer irreparable damage—as might all the work done in the past fifty years to make the case for a conspiracy in the murder of John F. Kennedy.




  Now back in his Dallas hotel room and settled down with an NBA game and a nice single malt Scotch—a recently acquired favorite after receiving a bottle of twelve year-old Macallan on his fiftieth birthday—Kemble stepped toward the window with his drink and gazed out at the night sky. It was still raining. The city was nearing record rainfall for late November, but it felt appropriate standing in Dealey Plaza being pelted by heavy rain. Kemble cursed softly, knowing that his return to the location only reinforced his view that he would never be free from the effects of some dozen years earlier, after which almost everything else in his life had been an anticlimax.




  Turning off the game and the wall switch, Kemble sat down in almost complete darkness. The only sound disturbing the silence was of the ice shifting in the glass whenever he took a sip of his Scotch. As he closed his eyes to concede to another period of reminiscence, a quotation he learned from his father pushed its way into his mind. It was from William Faulkner. “The past is never dead, it is not even past.”




  Chapter One




  The spacious home in Hillcrest Heights, Maryland was completely dark, with the exception of a lone banker’s light. It illuminated a large and ornate desk, the gift from a prominent congressman to the newly promoted Vice-Admiral Daniel Gellert in late 1974. Gellert’s career in the Navy had been stellar, although the timing was to his thinking less than ideal, seeing that his promotion coincided with the end of the American involvement in Vietnam and the peacetime that would follow. Now at eighty-two, Gellert was in the seventeenth year of living alone in the house he had retired to—and six weeks after the prognosis that he would likely be gone by the coming spring.




  His marriage was long ago a casualty of his career, and Dan Gellert had come to grow quite fond of his privacy. Suggestions by family that he move into a smaller house were immediately dismissed. For a man his age, he had until the middle of summer been in excellent condition—having no difficulty mounting the stairs to his bedroom or descending them to the woodshop in his basement. Since his retirement, the large house had been his ship—and he knew every square foot of it and understood its voice.




  As Gellert took the two pages of paper in his hand, he thought he heard something odd in his spacious home. At this time of night it was without question unsettling. The Admiral heard another noise—the crinkling of the two pieces of paper he was holding in his hands. His mouth began to form the familiar one-word utterance “Jake?”—but he clenched his teeth to suppress the word. Placing the paper on his desk, the Admiral listened in the manner he was taught at Annapolis. But in 1940 he felt none of the anxiety he was experiencing now. Gellert couldn’t understand it. All these years alone in this house and he had never felt the least concerned about any intrusive noises. He remained silent for almost thirty seconds. There was no repetition of the trespassing sound—only the distant rhythm of the grandfather clock near the foyer, the comforting hum of the refrigerator, and Bach’s “Brandenburg Concerto No. 2” playing softly from across the room.




  The two pages of single-spaced text were the only papers lying on his immaculate desk. Gellert despised piles of any kind. Throughout his career he kept before him the paperwork relating to only one matter at a time. When focusing on that, Gellert tolerated no interruption or distraction. His fellow officers over the years frequently teased him about his “iron-clad concentration,” as they called it.




  Gellert pondered the recent communications between him and two persons he had considerable affection for. The first was someone he had not seen in forty years but with whom he periodically corresponded. A seaman under his charge when Commander Gellert was assigned to Bethesda Naval Hospital in the summer of 1963. Gellert knew that Seaman Ronald Orr could not fairly serve as the son he never had, but he nonetheless had paternal feelings for the younger man. In addition to several letters of recommendation, Gellert had offered advice over the past four decades on several matters, which was always gratefully accepted. Gellert wanted now to free Orr from the promise he demanded the young man make forty-one years ago. He did not regret sending Kennedy assassination researcher Mark Kemble an anonymous message on a note card, telling him to contact Ronald Orr in Minnesota and providing Kemble the telephone number. Gellert hoped that Orr would tell what he knew—what Commander Gellert told him he could never reveal about what they overheard during that long night of November 22-23, 1963. Gellert just couldn’t make that request himself. Nor could he expose his name to Mark Kemble—whom he had known since Kemble’s father first took his place on the Supreme Court in the late 1970s.




  After his physician delivered the devastating news about his illness, Gellert became susceptible to a feeling previously foreign to him—guilt, which two days earlier had led to his sending a copy of the single-spaced letter now before him on his desk. He picked up the second page and read the conclusion again. The promise that Gellert would give the recipient until the night of the 24th to get in touch. On the 25th Gellert would contact the press. He checked his calendar. It was Monday evening, November 22, 2004.




  The Admiral reached for his coffee cup, but all movement was arrested by the interruption of slow, almost imperceptible steps on the carpeted hallway right outside the door to his den. He had not heard the sound in four months—not since his chocolate lab Jake had been struck by a car right outside Gellert's house. That familiar soft pressing on the carpeted floor that signaled his desire to be petted and fed. Gellert stood up from his desk, even though logic chided him for his foolishness. “Jake?”




  “Sorry. Name’s not Jake, Admiral.”




  A man strolled into the room, wearing a smile of satisfaction. He brought his lips together and pushed out a small greenish-blue bubble from the gum he was chewing. The bubble didn’t pop; it was drawn back into the man’s mouth, which reshaped itself into the same obnoxious smile.




  “Who the hell are you?” The Admiral stiffened his body as straight as his eighty-two years would allow.




  “I’m just here to get a few things—so just sit back down.”




  Gellert hesitated not out of fear but out of stubbornness. The man was leaning causally against the door frame, both hands jammed into the pockets of his sports coat, one leg crossed over the other in a sloppy and disrespectful kind of informality—the kind that Admiral Daniel Gellert had never tolerated.




  “Come on, Admiral. Just sit back down and do what I tell you.”




  Gellert conceded to prudence and sat down. He glanced at the two pages lying on his desk. Was that why the man had come?




  Gellert had only begun to lift his head when the bullet ripped through the bottom center of his skull. His head and chest tumbled onto the desktop. The green banker’s lamp offered a ghastly complement to the pool of blood streaming across the ornate desk.




  Within three minutes, Daniel Gellert’s den had seemingly been ransacked, but a perceptive eye would have noted the politeness of the pillaging. All the desk drawers were opened, but only one had its contents spilled on the floor. A mere four volumes of nonfiction were tossed on the carpet in front of the well-stocked bookcase. None of the framed portraits were disturbed by any search for a wall safe or hiding place. No other room in the house was violated. Notable only was the removal of the laptop computer on a side table near the desk and a smear of blood extending from the thick mass covering a large area of the desktop. It was as if someone had pulled a sheet or two of paper from under the bloody face of Daniel Gellert.




  

  Chapter Two




  I shot the President. Mine was the bullet that killed him.




  From the front right, as well you know. I want to talk to




  you. I will make contact again after you’ve had a chance




  to think about it awhile. Please don’t dismiss this admission.




  I killed the President. I couldn’t be any more sincere.




  Noted JFK assassination researcher Mark Kemble stared at the handwritten note inside one of the birthday cards he had resting on his lap. He was sitting against a tree at the end of National Mall, facing the west side of the Capitol Building. The late afternoon was mild but misty—the perfect climate for considering the “confession” before him. November 23, 2004—Kemble’s forty-first birthday.




  He had come to this spot three of his past four birthdays to sit and contemplate his favorite piece of architecture in the world. He would also replay the memories of birthdays past—all but one spent in Washington, where his father’s work had brought the family to live in December of 1960. In recent years, Kemble would come with his birthday cards from family and friends, read their messages, close his eyes, strain to hear their voices—especially from the past—his own boyish treble blending so harmoniously with his father’s commanding baritone. That voice had turned heads and commanded attention in every courtroom in which he argued, particularly in that building on the other side of the Capitol—the Supreme Court. Three years had passed since his father’s death, and yet . . .




  “Mark?” Kemble jerked forward, unprepared for a human voice intruding on his thoughts.




  “Michael. Jesus Christ. You scared the hell out of me.”




  Michael Agee threw up his hands in innocence. “Mr. Kemble, might I point out that there are several dozen persons walking and milling about within a mere thirty yards of where you’re now sitting?”




  “Sorry. I’m just doing some thinking about . . . well.”




  “Mark. You know what they say. There’s just too much thought in this town and not enough action. Good God, man, get up and do something.” Agee laughed, drawing a broad smile from Kemble. There were few men whose intelligence and wit he appreciated more than Michael Agee’s. As the senior staff assistant to Senator Maggie Culbertson of Vermont, Agee was respected as one of the nimblest and most charming members of his profession. He was relied on by his boss and looked up to by everyone on her staff, not to mention many who worked for other Senators.




  “All ready for tonight’s ad-hoc birthday bash?”




  Kemble nodded. He wasn’t looking forward to going, but he felt he had no choice. His good friend at the State Department had extracted a promise from Kemble to attend. In any event he wouldn’t have to stay long. He had an important phone call regarding the Kennedy Assassination to make at 9:00 p.m. to a Ronald Orr.




  “I guess I’ll see you then.” Agee paused. “You know that Baxley will be there, right?”




  “I know.” Kemble couldn’t make up his mind whether his ex-lover’s presence at the party was the reason he wanted to go or wanted to leave early.




  “Seen her lately?” Agee’s voice sounded subdued—almost as if he regretted having to ask.




  “No. I haven’t really seen her for two months. Why? She cut her hair—I sincerely hope not?”




  Again Agee laughed. “Not a strand. Both the hair and the woman are as impressive as ever. Enjoy the mist. And, oh yes, sorry to have interrupted your musings.”




  Agee headed north on 3rd toward Constitution Avenue, probably on his way to the Russell Senate Building and some late Tuesday afternoon paperwork.




  Yes, Kemble thought, his musings. The previous year, he was in Dallas for the well-publicized fortieth anniversary of the nationally traumatic events of November 22, 1963—one day before Kemble was born in the city Kennedy had left only a few days before. And here clutched in his hand was a generic birthday card with an admission by the sender that he had murdered the President. One more confession to add to the over twenty phone calls Kemble had received during the past eight years. In addition, Kemble had been sent thirty other letters and email messages, and had two face-to-face confrontations, testifying to the same. He had rolled his eyes at these lonely, desperate, and disturbed poseurs—each one blatantly illegitimate.




  Only one correspondence, received just eight days earlier, had arrested his attention. That was not an admission but only a request that he make contact with someone who “might” tell him something “highly significant” about Kennedy’s murder. But it was only a “might.”




  A car’s horn jolted him from his reverie. Kemble looked to his right and saw a tie-up on Jefferson Drive. As he turned back toward the capitol, he noticed a man standing near one of the parked cars. The tilt of the man’s umbrella prevented Kemble from seeing the face clearly, but he was sure the figure was staring right at him. That was nothing new for Kemble—as he had in the past three years made for good spectator sport in the Capital city. If he just ignored the man, he would likely fold his umbrella and go away.




  Public recognition was one of the disadvantages of making a name for himself as a leading student of the Kennedy assassination. He had two fairly recent books on the subject, a new one approaching the three-quarters mark, and a good number of published articles and significant airtime on radio and cable. Kemble glanced at the birthday card again. There was no return address, no postmark. It reminded him of the phone call he was to make tonight at 9:00 p.m. The previous call to Minnesota on the 16th had not gone well. The man on the other end of the line balked. He was stunned that Kemble knew where to find him. Kemble debated whether to inform the man that an anonymous message printed on a blank note card told him to call a Ronald Orr in Minnesota and provided the name and the number. The man told Kemble that he couldn’t reveal what he knew, though Kemble sensed that he wanted to. Why else invite another phone call for a week later—even though, as Orr said, he would probably not change his mind?




  Kemble decided to get going. As he stepped off onto 3rd Street, he immediately realized he had not been paying attention to traffic. He snapped his head to the left. A car a mere fifteen feet from him was accelerating from its parking space, failing or refusing to sound its horn. Kemble instantaneously jumped back, and the car brushed his pant leg. He heard several voices shouting at him to “Look out!”—but he was aware of them only after the car sped past. An excited young college student ran up to him. “Are you all right? Damn. That bastard never even slowed a bit. It was almost as if he was trying to run you down.”




  “I’m not so sure about that.”




  “Really? Then why would he . . .?” The young man stared at Kemble, and his face took on that familiar attitude of recognition. “Holy crap. You’re Mark Kemble, aren’t you?”




  “Yes, barely. And you are . . .?”




  “Hendley Walker. But I go by ‘H.’” Kemble offered a quizzical look. “I don’t like the name Hendley.”




  “Got it. So . . .?” Kemble expected the young man to say he had seen him on CSPAN or CNN, where he had been interviewed frequently the previous fall.




  “So I’m very honored to meet you. I saw you on CSPAN and CNN last fall—and I’ve read just about everything you’ve written on the Assassination.”




  “So the topic interests you, huh?” Kemble began to feel trapped standing on the west side of 3rd. He had given more than his share of college lectures and often found the enthusiasm and naïveté of his audiences a little much to endure. Each one had a theory on who killed JFK. Each had a belabored opinion of the Oliver Stone film. And each began every question with “Don’t you think that . . .?”




  “You bet it interests me. I’ve come up to D.C. to see what they’ll let me look at in the National Archives.”




  To his credit, Kemble thought, the lad understood the significance of research and evidence. Still, he was leery.




  “Well, H, I imagine you’ve read your share of the other books and articles on the subject.”




  “As many as I’ve been able to get my hands on. I’ve got everything available on video or DVD. The enhanced Zapruder film—everything.”




  By this point, Kemble had already concluded that a few minutes talking to H Walker might not be such a waste of time after all. Kemble was at least amused by the younger man’s exuberance.




  “Mr. Kemble, I’ve been fascinated by the topic since I was sixteen—six whole years now.”




  “Call me Mark, okay?”




  Walker responded as though he had received a blessing from the Pontiff. “I’m sorry. I’m just a little too enthusiastic about the subject, I’m afraid.”




  “Well, it was nice meeting you. Keep up the good work.”




  Kemble looked carefully this time—both left and right—saw his opening and trotted across the street. When he reached the other side, H was right behind him.




  “Look. I know you’ve probably got a lot to do tonight, but do you think I could buy you a drink or something?” Walker hastily added, “My girlfriend is with me. She’d love to meet you. She knows all about you. She’s gorgeous. A real beauty.”




  Kemble held his answer. He wondered why the young man added the comment about his girlfriend's pulchritude as an inducement. Kemble was inclined to have a drink with the young man regardless, for he truly enjoyed sitting around with the students who attended his lectures. But his simple curiosity about how attractive this young woman was made his acceptance easier, even though he still felt uneasy about Walker’s manner.




  “How well do you know the city?”




  “Uh, a bit. But I can get to any place I have an address for.”




  “Okay. Got a piece of paper?”




  “Sure.” H pulled off and opened up a small backpack Kemble had not until this moment even noticed. “Here.” It was a phone bill, not yet paid. “You can use the back of it.” Before turning it over, Kemble saw “Charlottesville.”




  “All right. Here’s a place that will serve. The Renaissance Washington, right straight up 9th. Presidents Sports Bar. If you go past Mt. Vernon Square, you’ve gone too far. I’ve got a function I have to attend at seven—but I doubt I’ll stay very long. Have to make a call at nine, so how about meeting me there at nine-thirty? Is that too late for you? Can you find the hotel okay?” Kemble handed back the phone bill.




  “Absolutely. No problem. Not too late at all—and I don’t even have to look at this.” H appeared to be completely flabbergasted. A young man in Washington, D.C., who simply couldn’t believe his luck. Walker headed back across 3rd, but in the middle of the street he turned and shouted, “I’ll bring her with me. Promise.” Three automobile horns in cacophonous synchronization drove him to the curb.




  When Walker reached the area where Kemble had earlier been sitting, he called out, “See you later, Mark!”




  Kemble, whose attentions had again been drawn to the Capitol, turned to wave at the exuberant young man when he saw standing next to him a stunning young woman with light hair. She didn’t embrace Walker; rather she stood apart from him as he opened his hand, sweeping it to his left as if to say, “Here she is.” She didn’t wave to Kemble, though, but merely turned and walked back up the Mall. Hendley Walker waited for a moment, smiled at Kemble, and then shifted the position of his hand so that it served as a goodbye salute.




  Mark Kemble was mystified as he watched the couple walk up the Mall. Again, why did Walker offer his beautiful girlfriend as some kind of encouragement for Kemble to join him later for a drink? Might this overly eager young man become an insufferable table companion? Finally, Kemble turned away with a smile. At least the young woman would make the drink pleasant.




  

  Chapter Three




  The man held the rock between his forefinger and his thumb, his target clearly defined—just one of the many low-flying hawks he had become used to seeing in the past several years. He heaved the rock with youthful anticipation and winced in elderly pain. The weapon of choice came nowhere near its target. The bursitis in his elbow, as well as the arthritis in his right knee, made the attempt both foolish and depressing. But the man had never been very good at hitting anything he aimed at—that is, in the physical sense. Otherwise, he had hit every one of his bull’s-eyes.




  Bryce Parkman had never regretted living the last years of his life outside of his native state, so far from the city on the Potomac that lured him from his boyhood Iowa farm. Had things been different, he would have preferred to retire in California, Oregon, or Washington State. That way he could have spent every evening watching the sun disappear into the Pacific. On the brief occasions when he lived on the West Coast, he was always moved by the utter finality of the sunset.




  As Parkman unfolded the portable quad chair at the bottom of the only boat ramp in the immediate area, he heard several rambunctious boys passing behind him. Several were “attacking” their playmates in a game of Indians versus the British—the sound of eighteenth-century muskets, pistols, and arrows supplied by each boy’s vocal impressions. Yes, he thought, as the boys ran off in the distance—for over forty years he had been drawn to that feeling of finality. After all, he directed one of the most significant “finalities” in American history.




  On this Tuesday evening, Parkman had in his pocket an address he had written down right after he received the message about the death of Admiral Daniel Gellert. He assumed that he would soon be asked for it. Every day for so many years he had expected something like this—the tap on the shoulder. Parkman wished he could be in Washington. He wanted to talk to an important person there—someone who was an inescapable connection to his own past, though not really a part of it. Parkman feared that, even after all this time, matters might get out of control.




  Kemble checked his watch, 7:11. He had just crossed Virginia Avenue and was on 21st Street approaching the Harry S Truman Building—home to the U.S. Department of State. Somewhere inside, in the million and a half square feet of space, a room had been culled out for a retirement party. Janis Houlis was calling it quits, after serving at State through the administrations of eight presidents. Kemble knew her only casually, but before coming to the State Department she had worked for two years for his father, when Charles Kemble was an appeals court judge. This fact, plus arguments forwarded by Janis’s colleague and Kemble’s good friend Lloyd Callaway, convinced Kemble that he ought to at least make an appearance. Kemble knew Senator Maggie Culbertson would be there, accompanied both by her Senior Staff Assistant Michael Agee—and the Senator’s favorite staffer, Baxley Newcomen.




  Kemble recalled a time he and his father came here, on a miserably humid Friday morning in the summer of 1973, when Mark was almost ten. All of Washington had been abuzz about one topic—Watergate. Mark asked his father, at the time a forty-two-year-old federal judge, what he thought was going to happen to the President. His father kept his answer in the context of his son’s almost exclusive interest that summer in sports. “He’s going to get kicked out of the game, Mark. That’s what I think.”




  “Found you—even without a hound.”




  Kemble turned toward the voice behind him. “You’re giving me a complex, Michael.”




  Agee laughed as he patted Kemble on the back. “You may not believe this, but I am not following you around, Mark.”




  “I know. You’re just trying to serve as my guardian angel. I thought you were accompanying the Senator.”




  “Got held up. Senator came with Baxley. They should both be here. As I should have been fifteen minutes ago. Excuse my quick pace. Don’t mean to leave you in the dust, my friend.”




  Agee charged down the hall, alternating between a fast walk and a slow trot. Kemble smiled and thanked the fates that he wasn’t at the beck and call of the powerful at the White House or on Capitol Hill. Kemble maintained his more measured strides until he heard the familiar clamor of the mid-level governmental party. The footsteps now approaching from behind were those of a man trying to run but not doing a very good job of it. Before Kemble could turn around, he felt a tap on his shoulder.




  “Well, hello, Mr. Grassy-Knoll.”




  “Jesus Christ, Adam. You scared the hell out of me.”




  “Really? Did you hear that, Lloyd? I actually scared the hell out of someone.”




  Kemble looked at Adam DeLoach’s partner, Lloyd Callaway. “I thought you guys liked to be at these functions as soon as they open the doors. You’re over fifteen minutes late.”




  “All three of us are over fifteen minutes late,” DeLoach said. “Think it a good idea to walk in with us? We don’t want people to talk—especially now that you’re not seeing women anymore.” Adam was being his catty self. Callaway could only roll his eyes, as De Loach continued. “I usually come to these affairs trolling for a nice catch. But Captain Lloyd is with me tonight, so I’m here only as the official conversational deck swabber.”




  Mark looked at Callaway with a grin. It was a familiar routine. Lloyd gave his partner an impotent though still withering stare.




  “Forget him, Mark. Thanks for coming. I know you’d rather be elsewhere, but it will mean a lot to the honoree to see you here. Just have one drink, talk to Janis for a minute, and then you can go.”




  DeLoach poked his index finger into Kemble’s chest. “And just why would you want to leave so early, Mr. Oswald-Didn’t-Do-It?”




  “Meeting someone.”




  Adam gave Lloyd a knowing look. “Ohhh. Then Mr. Kemble is back in the game, Lloyd. How old is she this time? Forty? No. Thirty? Dare I say twenty-five?”




  Kemble kept a straight face. “Probably twenty-one, maybe twenty-two.”




  DeLoach placed his hands on his hips. “Mark, you have to break yourself of those nasty habits. Does she have any fashion sense, at least?”




  Kemble smiled broadly. “Adam, it’s a young man actually.”




  “Well, I may be fifty-eight, and I have no intention of breaking myself of my nasty habits—so can we leave with you and get a look?”




  “I don’t know, he may have his girlfriend with him, so . . .”




  Adam shook his head and put both his hands on Kemble’s shoulders. “You are one messed up handsome early-middle-aged man, Mark Kemble. Call us when you’ve decided what you are, sweetheart. Okay?” With that, DeLoach headed into the makeshift party room.




  Lloyd Callaway picked up the conversation in a more restrained tone. “Let’s have lunch soon, Mark. I want you to convince me that Washington is really going to have a major league franchise next season. I’ve been having nightmares that something is going to torpedo the move.”




  As a former bat boy for the old Washington Senators, Callaway was a rabid baseball fan. Many were the times that he had regaled Kemble with the reminder that he was serving as the Senators’ bat boy on his fifteenth birthday—April 17, 1953—when the Yankees’ Mickey Mantle hit the only ball ever out of Griffith Stadium—a 565 foot tape-measure job. Lloyd gave Kemble a snappy salute and went on ahead to join the man he cared about more than any other person in his life, even though Adam frequently lamented that he had “hitched his buggy” to—of all things—an “insensitive sports maniac.”




  Upon entering the room, Kemble greeted and was greeted by a dozen or more persons he had known for years. Bypassing the impressive spread of choice meats and cheeses, Kemble made his way to the bar and requested a domestic beer. As the bartender handed it to him, Kemble caught sight of Senator Maggie Culbertson. Their eyes met only for an instant, for she jerked her head in another direction and dropped her smile. Kemble debated whether to approach her and express his regret that they were now estranged, if that was the right word for it. Kemble admired loyalty as much as the next person, but he wished that the Senator would understand that the blame for his break-up with Baxley should be shared.




  “Another martini, please.” Kemble turned in time to see the bartender reacting favorably to Baxley’s willowy and fairy-like appearance. Kemble felt a gnawing jealousy but also his undimmed attraction to her. She regarded him severely for a few seconds before she said in her crisp Yorkshire accent, “Hello, Mark.”




  Those were the first civil words between them since they had ended their relationship two months earlier. Each had agreed that they could no longer go on seeing each other—news of which had actually been published on the D.C. gossip blogs and even once in print. Kemble had taken the break-up hard. He had only dated once in the past two months. The former sexual intimacy with Baxley Newcomen had been followed by no more than a “passionate celibacy,” as Oscar Wilde had so wittily put it.




  “You look beautiful, Baxley. And a belated happy birthday.” He nodded his head in an awkward chivalric tribute to his former girlfriend having turned twenty-nine last month. Kemble was disappointed that she had her auburn hair up in a style he never liked. She was also wearing a muted orange dress he had once asked her to change out of. He couldn’t help believing that she had deliberately chosen the hair style and the dress, knowing she would see him here.




  Baxley Newcomen took a long sip of her drink. She loved martinis, but like most devotees of gin, she did best when she stopped at two. He recalled last winter—when their love affair was developing faster than he had then wanted—and how she “traded” him something he would find “JFK fascinating” for his ordering her a third martini. She informed him that in 1939, when Kennedy was living in London with his family, her maternal grandfather made a few rounds with the future president and introduced him to several Englishwomen to whom JFK took a fancy. Kemble was of course skeptical, but Baxley’s irresistible charm spoke well for her grandfather’s veracity.




  “Did you come with anyone, Mark?”




  “No.” He wanted to ask her the same question, but suppressed the urge. Both of them sipped their drinks, awaiting the awkwardness to pass. Kemble noticed two members of the Senator’s staff keeping close eyes on their colleague and her former lover.




  “So . . .?” Her tone wasn’t confrontational, but Kemble immediately put up his defenses. What did she want him to say? That he wanted them to get back together? This was really not the place to be in each other’s company for the first time in over two months, especially with so much unresolved between them.




  “Baxley, perhaps now isn’t the moment for us to talk. I need to say hello to Janis, finish this beer, and then head out. I have an important call to make in a little while. But if it’s okay, I’d like to call you later. Perhaps we could . . .”




  He stopped when she raised her chin in the same manner he had witnessed too often in their last months together. Clearly, she was getting gin belligerent. Kemble’s words were out before he had a chance to consider how inappropriate they were. “Baxley, please watch how many martinis you drink, okay?”.




  “Fuck you, Mark Kemble. Just fuck you. Another one, please.”




  “Baxley, I know you’re still very upset at me for not . . . Look. I’m sorry for all that, okay? I really am. Let’s just accept the fact that tonight we shouldn’t —”




  “Don’t patronize me. I’m not your . . .” She let the clause remain unspoken, but he easily guessed what she was trying to say. “You refused to meet me in September when I asked you to, remember? So don’t you patronize me now. Don’t!”




  Without looking around the room, Kemble knew that he and Baxley had commanded the attention of at least two dozen party guests and that the numbers would swell if he didn’t leave immediately. He regretted having to postpone congratulating Janis Houlis on her retirement. He would give her a call and try to explain his hasty departure.




  As he turned away, he looked at those who were observing the unfortunate scene near the bar. Among those registering everything from concern to amusement were Adam, Lloyd, Michael Agee, and of course the Senator.




  “Goodbye, Baxley. I think you’ll have a better time without me here.” He winced at uttering another inane remark.




  “Don’t flatter yourself, Mark. I’ll have a good time whether you stay or not.” He could see the hurt only slightly below the surface of her stormy features, but there was nothing he could say now.




  He was not ten steps down the hall when she caught up to him, the straps of her dress sandals dangling from her hand. “May God damn you, you bastard! You bloody git!” When Kemble didn’t stop and rounded the corner out of sight, she shouted even more loudly. “Come back, Mark. You bastard! I . . . I’m . . . I’m sorry for what I said.”




  Overcome by her contrary emotions, she slumped down the wall. Before she reached the floor, however, Maggie Culbertson’s hand clutched her arm and pushed her back up. The Senator had heard everything Baxley had said to Kemble outside the party room. “Baxley, darling, just forget about him. He’s not worth it. Baby, do you hear me? He’s just not worth it.”




  

  Chapter Four




  “How much more will the blood of Christ, who through the eternal Spirit offered Himself without blemish to God, cleanse your conscience from dead works to serve the living God?"




  The man made note of the passage from Romans 9:14. It was one more that he would commit to memory—part of the spiritual journey he had begun some eighteen months earlier. Yet his journey would not take the familiar roads traversed by most penitents. The man couldn’t bring himself to walk on any righteous path. Unlike Cain, he had no discernible mark to save him from retribution—but that retribution had never come.




  Chandler Lowell felt the evening air simply perfect for a man his age. Relatively mild, around 44 degrees with a benign northerly breeze. It was 6:50 p.m.—in a different time zone—on the outskirts of Chicago. As Lowell examined the photograph he had taken the previous March 21st on his sixty-fifth birthday, with that day’s light snow scattered across his backyard, he thought the scene resembled the marbling on a piece of choice beef. The coffee in his hand tasted good. He had in the past few months begun punching up his home brew with half-shots of bourbon, even while he read and noted relevant verses from both Old and New Testaments. Two cups each late afternoon, as day turned to night—just one of many culinary habits he had always seemed to embrace and then quickly discard. Besides, the bourbon was better for his nerves than an extra teaspoon of sugar, and he wanted steady nerves for what he was about to do.




  Lowell put down the warm cup and finished writing, finally sealing the Thanksgiving card—the second card he decided to send in the past four days—and addressing the envelope. But not the envelope in which he had put the card. Rather, the address went on the larger manila envelope in which the card was placed. He picked up the black pen and wrote on the interior envelope the name of the recipient—“Mark Kemble.”




  The walk would be both invigorating and delightful, as were the two enhanced cups of coffee he had earlier consumed. Chandler Lowell knew that the walk was indeed doing him some good. The high blood pressure reading was only the first indication that his cardiovascular health wasn’t acceptable. Sky-high cholesterol and triglyceride levels also encouraged a number of alterations to his sedentary lifestyle. After retiring from his practice as a doctor of optometry, Lowell had ceased standing whenever possible. He was paying for it now.




  The post office annex was half a mile from the house, but after he had walked about thirty yards, he looked back over his shoulder toward his house. He was expecting his daughter to call, as she did every Tuesday night, but that wasn’t for another hour yet. His current pace now matched exactly the one he used when he walked away from the Dallas fence line in 1963. He could feel it—the exact speed, the exact length of each step. Yet that day he did not look back, for he was expressly told not to. He was to walk at that steady pace—with each stride identical in length to the one before it—and not look back.




  When Lowell reached the annex, he glanced at the sealed manila envelope which contained the Thanksgiving card to Mark Kemble. He had never heard of the man—knew nothing of his research on the Kennedy Assassination—until he visited the D.C. area in the fall of 2003. He had been at a suburban Washington bookstore, purchasing a new novel, when he came upon a copy of Kemble’s most recent book on the death of JFK. Lowell picked it up only because his sister had talked about Kemble the night before. She had mentioned that he was a JFK assassination researcher, but she was more interested in two articles she had read regarding Kemble’s engaging personal life. That was when Lowell began to formulate the possibility of contacting the younger man. Over a year of further reflection and scriptural reading had passed before he made the decision actually to do so.




  As he bounced the larger envelope in his hand, he decided that he no longer could allow other forces he couldn’t control to do his work for him. He’d head to Washington sometime mid-morning, spend one night on the road, and then reach the capital city bright and early Thanksgiving morning. He’d have his holiday meal with his sister Betty and her family in Maryland. As he stood in front of the mail drop, the idea swept over him. His entire body shook along with the hand that held the manila envelope. Lowell muttered to himself the familiar passage from Leviticus he had months earlier memorized. “And the priest shall make atonement for him before the Lord; and he shall be forgiven for any one of the things which he may have done to incur guilt.”




  Lowell decided that Mark Kemble would serve as his confessor—his secular priest.




  Following his escape from the Truman Building, Kemble walked north a few blocks and buried himself amid the buildings of George Washington University. He wouldn’t court further embarrassment by trying to explain to his friends what happened. He wouldn’t blame Baxley at all. But he was upset because she had cursed him in public and attempted to humiliate him.




  ”Where you going’?”




  “East. 10th Street.” Kemble stepped into the cab and leaned his head against the window. All too soon he caught sight of several places where he and Baxley had been together. Kemble had felt an immediate attraction as soon as he saw her on CSPAN, sitting behind Senator Culbertson during a Judiciary Committee meeting. When he met Baxley in person, he was drawn to her silky auburn hair, her appealing shape, and her impressive and judicious taste. Soon after they began dating, he became a fan of her intelligence and sharp sense of humor. That she sounded English was only a bonus, he reasoned then. And she actually liked accompanying him last May and June to several Orioles games in Baltimore.




  Within a few days of their first going to bed, Kemble started to move beyond the death of his wife three years earlier. But by late spring, Baxley was showing impatience with his reluctance to discuss their future. As each week passed, her frustrations grew and prompted moments of unpleasantness between them. That escalated to several heated arguments, leading to days spent apart in the late summer and the final break-up in September. But they had never agreed that they weren’t right for each other. They had just refused to call each other for two months, and it could have gone on forever if not for tonight.




  Exiting the cab, Kemble stood in front of the Petersen House, where Lincoln had been brought to die after Booth fired his derringer in Ford’s theatre across the street. Kemble well appreciated that Booth had been the model on which so many based their response to the Kennedy Assassination. John Wilkes Booth was a lone assassin who set in the collective mind of Americans that its presidents could only by murdered by the plotting of a single demented mind filled with delusions of grandeur and retribution. But, as Kemble often noted in his public lectures, Booth was part of a larger conspiracy which sought the deaths of Seward, Grant, and Andrew Johnson, as well as Lincoln. Kemble therefore emphasized to his audiences that Booth was hardly worthy of being a model for Lee Harvey Oswald—or rather the Oswald the Warren Commission presented to the world.




  At exactly nine o’clock Kemble walked past the Bistro d’Oc and the Petersen House to a spot where it was relatively quiet. He hit the number he had earlier programmed in his cell phone and let it ring eight times before he killed the call. Resisting the urge to slam the cell phone on the sidewalk in frustration, Kemble started heading up F Street toward the Renaissance Hotel. But then he reconsidered. He stopped and redialed the number. This time the man answered on the second ring.




  “Yes.”




  “Ronald Orr?”




  “Yes, Mr. Kemble. I’m sorry that I . . . Oh, never mind.” Kemble hoped Orr was going to apologize for letting the phone ring without answering. He knew that Orr could go either way at this moment.




  “Look, Ronald, I really appreciate your asking me to call back.” No response. “I see on the radar that you’ve got clouds.” Kemble felt like a complete fool. “Any snow?”




  “No. It’s 27 degrees, but no snow.”




  What now? It wasn’t baseball season. And Kemble didn’t want to ask Orr about the Minnesota Vikings because they had lost three of their last four games and he couldn’t risk putting the man in a bad mood.




  “Well, as I said, Ronald, I wanted to ask you about that night. When they brought Kennedy’s body in and . . .”




  “Wait, wait.”




  Kemble sensed that his one chance had been completely lost. “Ronald?”




  “This isn’t going to work.”




  “Ronald, I don’t mean to put any pressure on you, you know that.” Kemble felt sixteen again, doing his damnedest to keep Laurie Waxman from breaking up with him right before the homecoming dance. “Can we . . . I mean, would it be easier if . . .”




  “I’ll talk to you in person. Not on the phone, okay?”




  It took all of Kemble’s wits to shape his simple reply. “Okay. Yes. Absolutely.” He felt the blood once more flowing unimpeded through his body. Did he actually hear Orr correctly?




  “Look, I feel badly about your having to take a plane all the way out to Minnesota, so I’ll tell you what. My wife and I have a new grandchild. My daughter lives in Wilmington, Delaware. We’re flying there tomorrow to spend Thanksgiving with them. Let’s see. I could see you Friday if you want to come up. I’ve looked at the maps. It’s an easy shot up I-95.”




  “Yes, Ronald, Friday is good. Look, if you see that Saturday would be better, just call me. I’ll give you my cell and home numbers.”




  “No, I think Friday will be fine. But let me have the numbers anyway. That way I can call you later about the time and exactly where we should meet. Hold on, let me get a pen.”




  As Orr put down his phone, Kemble tried to squeeze the tension out of his hands. He had finally gotten what he had thought was impossible, a personal conversation with Ronald Orr. A man who had attended at the autopsy of John F. Kennedy.




  “Okay, let me have the number.” After Kemble repeated it twice, he realized that Orr was now sounding what was surely like himself—dry and matter-of-fact. And that was exactly how Kemble wanted him to be. Matter-of-fact. Facts of the critical matter. He couldn’t believe his luck.




  “All right, Ronald, I’ll wait for your phone call. And call me anytime—don’t worry about disturbing me.”




  “I’ll try to remember that I’ll be on Eastern Time, and try to reach you no later than tomorrow night after the dinner hour.”




  Kemble wanted to tell him that he had no established dinner hour—and he hadn’t had one for three years, not since the deaths of his father and wife. “Okay, Ronald. We’ll talk tomorrow. Good bye.”




  Kemble folded his cell phone and headed for the Renaissance Hotel. He smiled thinking that he truly had something this Thanksgiving to be thankful for. Still, Friday was three days away, and much could happen to change Orr’s mind between now and then. No, he would not yet buy a round of celebratory drinks at the hotel. But he knew he could sure use one, maybe two.




  Ronald Orr offered a weary smile to his wife as he returned to the living room and the program they had been watching. He had deeply loved this woman, his wife of almost forty-three years, having married her a month before going into the Navy in March 1962. Seeing that her husband was not paying attention to the program, Carolyn Orr asked him if he wanted to talk more about Daniel Gellert. “No, Carolyn. Not now,” he replied. She smiled gently, turned off the television, kissed her husband on the cheek, and left him alone with his thoughts.




  His daughter had called from Delaware earlier in the evening with the news that Gellert had been shot during a breakin and robbery in his home. Her husband was down in the capital and heard the news, which he immediately conveyed to his wife by phone. Orr had known that his old commander was ill and living on borrowed time. His mind had already begun preparing to accept Gellert’s death. Perhaps that was why he had not broken down at hearing the news. Or was it because the retired admiral’s murder might have consequences for him as well? More than once Orr had considered the possibility that he too might be known and targeted. Was that the reason Gellert was shot? Orr couldn’t help thinking that it was.




  And was he really going to talk with Mark Kemble and break the oath taken to Daniel Gellert after that long November night forty-one years ago? Orr could still hear his footsteps on that long walk to Commander Gellert’s office the next day. Gellert’s face had been pained, not simply for the memory of seeing the morbid remains of a once vibrant president, but rather for what Gellert was about to order him to keep forever to himself. Orr knew that Commander Gellert had his orders, which he was only passing down to Seaman Orr. Orr made his promise of silence out of respect for Gellert, not so much out of fear of reprisal should he disobey the order.




  But Mark Kemble had told him that someone had anonymously provided his phone number in Minnesota. Orr’s instincts told him it was Gellert—but why? Was the Admiral going through what Orr had felt for so long? He knew he should have contacted the Admiral the day after Kemble’s initial phone call and discussed what each of them was thinking about the secrets they had long harbored. Now it was too late for that.




  Orr couldn’t help thinking that his own life might be in danger. If so, he’d be damned if he wouldn’t tell Kemble what he witnessed that night. He wasn’t going to be frightened into silence now.




  

  Chapter Five




  Sitting in his impressive Georgetown home, Francis Lusk had just concluded a ten-minute conversation with two producers of a network news magazine. He was following up on a tentative agreement made three days earlier to devote two of the three segments of the Sunday evening program to the Kennedy assassination—featuring a debate between him and Mark Kemble.




  Initially, the producers had dismissed the idea out of hand. Several network and cable programs on the event had aired the previous year, they told Lusk—the fortieth anniversary of Dallas. Doing another one now, just a year later, would have no hook, really. What would be the appeal?




  Lusk was ready for the question. “It would be the very first time Mark Kemble and I would ever appear face-to-face on the same show. Think about why that might be of interest and get back to me. Ask those who have some knowledge of the Kennedy assassination. You may be surprised at what they’ll tell you.”




  Lusk expected to get a call back within a half hour last Saturday evening, and sure enough, the phone rang fifteen minutes later with the tentative okay. The Vice-President had canceled a live appearance on the show scheduled for this Sunday night, leaving the news magazine with few attractive options to fill the spot. Lusk had been formulating plans for an ad hoc confrontation between him and Kemble on the Kennedy assassination for over a month, and the opportunity knocked much earlier than he assumed it would.
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